Court of Appeal Cause No. 74626-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TAMARA ZAITSEV Petitioner

v.

SHAWN KELLER, DDS (SMILES BY DESIGN), Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tamara Zaitsev 15409 NE 12th St, Apt# G-351 Bellevue, WA-98007 425-736-1266 (message) Petitioner Pro Se

Shawn Keller (SMILES BY DESIGN) 7530 164th Ave, Ste# A-230 Redmond, WA- 98052 425-558-1515 (business) *Respondent*

John C. Versnel, III, WSBA No. 17755 Daniel C. Mooney, WSBA No. 44521 Lee-Smart PS, Inc - Pacific Northwest Law Offices 1800 One Convention Place-701 Pike Street Seattle, WA -98101-392 206-6247990 (Tel); 206-624-5944 (Fax) *Attorneys for Respondent*

Page **1** of **52**

I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Tamara Zaitsev, Petitioner in the Superior Court and Appellant in the Court of Appeals, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I of the Court of Appeals filed its unpublished decision on July 31, 2017. *Appendix 1.* A timely motion for reconsideration was filed on August 18, 2017 and was denied on September
12, 2017. *Appendix 2*.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. After two attorneys neglect her case, with the second one withdrawing only two months before the (apparent) statute of limitations date runs, and subsequent numerous unsuccessful attempts to retain an attorney, Petitioner Tamara Zaitsev, a 71-year-old retired person, low income, computer-illiterate, non-English speaking, is compelled to plead her cause in court pro se, while still consulting attorneys who are reluctant to retain her case because they don't see sufficient financial gain from it. Is Zaitsev being denied due process by 1) being held to the same standards as WBAR certified attorneys, and 2) not provided by courts with an attorney to assist her with legal pleadings? Yes.

B. When dismissing Zaitsev's case "with prejudice", trial court erroneously calculated the date of when statute of limitations had run, that is 3-years after the date of initial injury. However, Zaitsev was still under Respondent Dr. Keller's care and still continued a patientdoctor relationship with Dr. Keller until about six months after the date of initial injury. The injury was continuous: initially she was injured when drill bit (Foreign body "FB") broke in her jaw at the time of dental implant procedure that Dr. Keller was performing, and then injury continued when Dr. Keller sent her to a dental school, where Zaitsev sustained more injuries

PETITION FOR REVIEW, ZAITSEV v. KELLER, No. 95030-0

from a failed FB removal procedure, which Dr. Keller also paid for. Was Zaitsev denied her right for due process when the trial court failed to properly address the statute of limitations issue to determine the correct date, before dismissing the case "with prejudice", thus precluding petitioner from further court hearing of her cause? Yes.

C. Zaitsev was not assisted in trial court with a certified court interpreter, which violates RCW 2.43.030. (1)(c) and Fed.R.Civ.P.604.2, Instead of acting in the court's and Zaitsev's best interests and providing her with an interpreter, trial court allows Zaitsev's daughter, who is not a court interpreter, to interpret for the petitioner. If Zaitsev had a qualified interpretation in court should would have made a better assessment of what was conveyed by the court, would not have given the court a permission to decide on written documents, and her cause of action would have not been dismissed with prejudice. Are the petitioner's due process rights violated when the trial court violates court rules? Yes.

D. The Court of Appeals had the discretion to allow Zaitsev's "Waiver and Estoppel" argument, but failed to do so, citing that this issue was raised for the first time on appeal, without taking into account Zaitsev's extraordinary circumstances. Were Petitioners due process rights violated when the appellate court refused to take Zaitsev's disadvantaged circumstances and the fact that she was misled and "trapped" by Dr. Keller's attorney, and thus consider her "Waiver and Estoppel" argument? Yes.

E. Zaitsev acted in good faith and exhibited excusable neglect when serving the process. Did the appellate court violate petitioner's due process rights by not taking these facts into consideration and not giving her a chance to re-serve Dr. Keller? Yes.

F. The trial court and the court of appeals had the discretion to find the service insufficient but curable. Did the trial court and court of appeals abuse their discretion and

violated petitioner's due process rights by not deeming the service of process insufficient but curable? Yes.

G. Washington State Department of Health ("WDOH") public records exhibit a disturbing number of public complaints that describe low standard of care, negligence, and malpractice at Dr. Keller's place of business. Petitioner's injuries directly co-relate to the pattern of reoccurrence involving other patient's related incidents, as well as complaints submitted to WDOH by Dr. Keller's former employees. Does this case involve a significant public interest issue? Yes.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. On or about June 21, 2012 Petitioner Tamara Zaitsev ("Zaitsev") was severely injured by Respondent Dr. Shawn Keller ("Dr. Keller"), who performed an implant surgery in her mouth and failed to remove a piece of drill bit ("FB") which was broken off at the time of the procedure and retained in Zaitsev's lower jawbone, later causing complications with Zaitsev's health and a necessity of additional medical procedures and surgeries. Since the incident, Zaitsev has not been able to lead a normal lifestyle and has been seeking medical advice and treatment from numerous doctors and medical institutions.¹ [CP @ 3, 4].² Zaitsev was under care of Dr. Keller until about January 15, 2013, and communicated with his office until about March, 2013, and believes that the last decision to leave the FB in her jaw was made by Dr. Keller between January and March, 2013 (last omission). Dr. Keller failed to provide adequate removal of the broken drill bit piece, which had to be done by a specialist in controlled conditions (estimated at least \$60,000). Failing to exercise a due care, and motivated by a low price, Dr. Keller sent

¹ Complaint included in Clerk's Papers, PDF pages 3 & 4.

² Clerk's Papers designation [CP @ X] where X is PDF page number of reference.

PETITION FOR REVIEW, ZAITSEV v. KELLER, No. 95030-0

Zaitsev to the University of Washington School of Dentistry ("UWSD"), instead of qualified experienced provider, and paid some \$300 for the FB removal procedure (continuous doctor-patient relationship). On January 15, 2013, Zaitsev sustained more significant injuries from the FB removal procedure at the UWSD, and FB was never recovered.

B. Zaitsev retained two attorneys who procrastinated much time in her case. The last attorney has withdrawn from representing the case two months before the 3-year statute of limitations deadline (if calculated from the day of the incident). Although, Zaitsev had contacted numerous lawyers, at this crucial point it was impossible to retain an attorney on contingency fee, and she could not afford to pay out of pocket due to her indigent status, age of retirement, and health issues. Zaitsev has not been able to retain an attorney to this day. Zaitsev presented to court of appeals as evidence some of the numerous attorney letters/emails of refusal before and after the case dismissal.³ Many attorneys were contacted by phone. Zaitsev was left no choice but to represent herself pro se with the help of her daughters and family friends, who have no legal education, and limited English. Zaitsev does not read nor write English and requires an interpreter.

C. On May 7, 2015, with the help of her daughter and a family friend, Zaitsev filed a short COMPLAINT [CP @ 3, 4] against Dr. Keller in the King County Superior Court. On May 8, 2015, Zaitsev, with the help of her daughter, and a family friend submitted the service of process documents to the Sheriff's office for delivery to Dr. Keller's attorney Mr. Versnel (Versnel). Zaitsev was certain the following documents were given to the Sheriff: 1) ORDER SETTING CIVIL CASE SCHEDULE and supporting information pages [CP @ 5-9], SUMMONS [CP @ 1, 2], and COMPLAINT [CP @ 3, 4].

³ Exhibits 14-23 included in Brief of Appellant (not in Clerk's Papers).

PETITION FOR REVIEW, ZAITSEV v. KELLER, No. 95030-0

D. On May 21, 2015, Versnel filed a NOTICE OF APPEARANCE [CP @ 13], but has not responded with any answer, motion, nor pleading that would indicate that the service of process was incomplete or insufficient until six months later on Nov 15, 2016, when he finally filed a MOTION TO DISSMISS [CP @ 18-24] based on insufficient/incomplete service of process. Versnel argued that he only received the Order Setting Civil Case Schedule and never received Complaint and Summons. He also argues that the Service of Process had to be served directly on his client Dr. Keller. and not on him (Versnel), therefore, the court does not have jurisdiction to hear this case.

E. Zaitsev asserts that she acted in good faith, and the reason why she did not serve the process on Dr. Keller directly is because she believed that she was precluded and warned by Versnel not to bother Dr. Keller anymore. On more than one occasion, in his correspondence to Zaitsev's former attorney, Versnel insisted that he is representing Dr. Keller as well as Dr. Keller's business Smiles by Design LLC and does not want his client bothered, and that all future concerns and correspondence has to be addressed to him (Versnel). The last letter from Versnel was written less than 3 months before the commencement of the suit, and Versnel never indicated in any way that he is not representing Dr. Keller any longer. Zaitsev argues that she was misled by attorney Versnel's letters who represents the law and she was reluctant to break the law.⁴

F. Zaitsev asserts that she tried to serve the Defendant in good faith. Because of her poor eye sight and general health, and limited English, she relied upon the help of her daughter and family friend for help, and was unaware of the missing documents. The circumstances were not in the scope of her control. Zaitsev was certain that a complete package of Service of Process

⁴ See PLAINTIFF'S RESPONSE TO MOTION TO DISMISS [CP @ 40-43] and supporting letters from Versnel [CP @ 47-48].

documents were handed to the Sheriff for delivery to Versnel. Zaitsev had no idea the Summons and Complaint somehow went missing, and believes it could have been a clerical mistake. But, if she would have been timely notified by the Defendant's attorney about the incomplete service of process, she would have corrected the error by contacting the Sheriff's office, or/and re-serving the process.⁵

G. Zaitseva was not represented by an attorney, and the court did not appoint her one, despite her request in writing.⁶

H. Zaitsev tried negotiations with the Defendant and has sent a Demand Letter⁷ to Versnel on October 12, 2015, by certified mail. Versnel never responded. Zaitsev also filed a complaint with the WA Department of Insurance because Versnel also represents the liability insurance company for Dr. Keller's insurance policy who is responsible for this claim. The claim was denied.

I. On Dec.16, 2015, Dr. Keller filed DEFENDANT'S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS [CP @ 51-55], as well as DECLARATION OF JOHN C. VERSNEL, III IN SUPPORT OF DEFENDANT'S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS [CP @ 56-57]. Zaitsev did not have sufficient time to respond before Dec. 22 court hearing to address Versnel's statements, because she was relying on free legal help which only entitles her to occasional 30-minute appointments with different attorneys who know nothing about her case, and who are, in most cases, do not practice in the pertinent area of law. Zaitsev prepared her Declaration and supporting documents⁸ in response and e-filed the documents on Dec.19, 2015.

⁵ See PLAINTIFF'S RESPONSE TO MOTION TO DISMISS [CP @ 40-43] and supporting letters from Versnel [CP @ 47-48].

⁶ See PLAINTIFF'S RESPONSE TO MOTION TO DISMISS [CP @ 43].

⁷ See Exhibit 11 included with this Brief (not in Clerk's Papers).

⁸ See Exhibit 12 included with this Brief (not in Clerk's Papers).

PETITION FOR REVIEW, ZAITSEV v. KELLER, No. 95030-0

Zaitsev was notified by the court's automatic e-system the next day, after the dismissal judgement was already entered, that these documents did not go through. So, the trial court never received Exhibits 11 and 12.⁹

J. On Dec. 22, 2015, Zaitsev appeared before the trial court for a hearing of MOTION TO DISSMISS [CP @ 18-24]. The trial court did not provide Zaitsev with a qualified interpreter; instead, her daughter Elena Zaitseva assisted her in interpreting. Her daughter is not a qualified court interpreter. At the time of the hearing, the court informed Zaitsev that she has an option to allow the court to make judgement without oral arguments, based on the written documents that court had.¹⁰ She agreed, assuming that the court acted in her best interests. However, trial court did not disclose the documents that it had, and Zaitsev was not aware that the court did not have all the documents that were e-filed.

K. Zaitsev asserts that from Versnel's actions it is evident that he purposely concealed the fact that service was insufficient. These actions, or failure to act on the part of Versnel delayed the case action significantly and prejudiced Zaitseva substantially, because at this point the Sheriff's department refused to even discuss the recovery of missing documents from six months ago; Zaitsev was not given an option by the trial court to cure or re-serve the process.

L. The trial court assumed that the 3-year statute of limitations for filing of the case has run, and dismissed the case "with prejudice"¹¹, thus precluding Zaitsev form further pleading her cause of action.

M. Zaitsev appealed to the Court of Appeals, Division I. Court of Appeals Affirmed trial court's ruling.¹²

⁹ See Exhibits 11 & 12 included with Brief of Appellant (not in Clerk's Papers).

¹⁰ See CLERK'S MINUTE ENTRY [CP @ 62].

¹¹ See ORDER GRANTING CR 12(b) MOTION FOR DISMISSAL [CP @ 63-64].

¹² See Appendix-1 COURT OF APPEALLS UNPUBLISHED OPINION.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This Court should grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision for the following reasons:

A. TRIAL COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY HOLDING A 71-YEAR-OLD, NON-ENGLISH-SPEAKING, ILLETERATE, PRO SE PETIITONER TO THE SAME STANDARDS AS WABA CERTIFIED ATTORNEYS.

1. The Court of Appeals' decision involves a significant question of constitutional law, namely, whether the due process rights of petitioner were violated when the courts held her to the same standard as WABA certified attorneys, while disregarding the fact that her Pro Se status is not due to her choice, but due to her inability to retain an attorney.

2. After being injured by a negligent dentist Dr. Keller, who also did not provide Zaitsev with due care in correcting the negligent act, and placing her in a position of sustaining more injuries, Zaitsev is compelled to plead her cause pro se, because her attorneys failed to represent her. The first attorney she retained held the case for a year without making any progress, and second attorney had quit only two months before the (apparent) statute of limitations run. Zaitsev consulted numerous attorneys, but none wanted to take her case. Zaitsev is the injured party in this case, and is placed at disadvantage, and being prejudiced by the legal system because of not being able to retain an attorney, due attorneys not seeing sufficient monetary interest in her case, and thus refusing to take it. Petitioner is a retired, low income, computer-illiterate, non-English speaking, 71-year-old person, not trained in the law, relied on family and friends who are also not trained in the law, which puts her in a great disadvantage before the opposing party, whom she sustained injuries from, and who is represented by a wellestablished law firm with substantial resources. Zaitsev is misled by Dr. Keller's attorney's letters and obscure legal language in his notice of appearance, which did not clearly disclose that the service was ineffective until six months after the service, thus manipulating the legal system to his advantage, while knowing that the petitioner is an elderly person, who is not represented by an attorney and does not speak English. Zaitsev explains her position in trial court, but despite, she is held to the same standards as the WABAR certified attorneys. Thus, trial court and the court of appeals violated her due process rights by holding her to the same standard as WABAR certified attorneys, and not providing her with an attorney to assist her.

B. TRIAL COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY MISCALCULATING THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND THUS ERRONEOUSLY DISMISSING PETITIONER'S CAUSE OF ACTION "WITH PREJUDICE".

1. The Court of Appeals' decision involves a significant question of constitutional law, namely, whether the due process rights of Zaitsev were violated when the trial court did not hold a hearing to determine when the statute of limitations has run in Zaitsev's case, and erroneously assumed that the statute of limitations had started running at the time of initial injury (when the FB broke in her jaw), referencing the date in Zaitsev's initial court Complaint¹³, and dismissed the case "with prejudice"¹⁴, precluding Zaitsev from further raising this issue.

2. Zaitsev asserts that she still continued a doctor-patient relationship with Dr. Keller after the initial injury as further described, and the statute of limitations had begun running when

¹³ See COMPLAINT [CP @ 3, 4].

¹⁴ See ORDER GRANTING CR 12(b) MOTION FOR DISMISSAL [CP @ 63-64].

PETITION FOR REVIEW, ZAITSEV v. KELLER, No. 95030-0

she was last under his care, which is about six months after the date of the first injury she sustained. The injury she has sustained from Dr. Keller was continuous: 1) first she was injured by the broken drill bit piece in her jaw on June 21, 2012, when he performed an implant procedure, and then, 2) injury continued when Dr. Keller, motivated by a low price and not by Zaitsev's well-being, referred Zaitsev to the UW School of Dentistry ("UWSD") for the FB removal procedure, and he paid some \$300 for it, where on January 15, 2013, (six months after the initial injury) she sustained more injuries from unexperienced dental school student, and FB was never recovered. After the failed procedure at UWSD, Zaitsev stayed in contact with Dr. Keller's office until about March, 2013.

3. On December 22, 2015, the trial court held hearing for Dr. Keller's Motion to Dismiss (due to alleged insufficient service of process)¹⁵, and dismissed Zaitsev's cause of action "with prejudice" the same day. The trial court stated their reason for dismissal "with prejudice" because "statute of limitations has run"¹⁶. The trial court used the June 21, 2012 date and not January 15, 2013 for the beginning of 3-year statute of limitations. If trial court used January 15, 2013, the petitioner would have been able to re-file the cause of action, because the statute of limitations would have run only on or about January 15, 2016 (or possibly until March). Zaitsev was not given an opportunity in trial court to present her argument about the statute of limitations, because this issue was never brought up by the court. The arguments during the trial court's only hearing for Dr. Keller's Motion to Dismiss were about the insufficient service of process, and not about the statute of limitations or substance of the case. The trial court informed Zaitsev that it will make a decision based on paperwork in front of it, but did not state which

¹⁵ See Defendant/Respondent's MOTION TO DISSMISS [CP @ 18-24]

¹⁶ See ORDER GRANTING CR 12(b) MOTION FOR DISMISSAL [CP @ 63-64].

paperwork was there, nor did it state that it will not only decide on the issue of insufficient service, but also on when the statute of limitations should run. Had the trial court informed Zaitsev that it will decide on statute of limitations, Zaitsev would not have agreed to let the decision be made merely on the paperwork, but she would have presented pertinent information to determine date for the statute of limitations. The trial court did not ask pertinent questions to determine the date for statute of limitations, nor did it hold a separate hearing to address this issue. Therefore, by dismissing Zaitsev's cause of action "with prejudice" based on its own mere assumption, the trial court has violated her due process rights.

C. THE TRIAL COURT AND THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED BY NOT PROVIDING PETITIONER WITH A COURT CERTIFIED INTERPRETER

The Court of Appeals' decision involves a significant question of constitutional law, namely, whether the due process rights of the petitioner are violated when the trial court violated the court rules, and does not provide Zaitsev with an interpreter, making the accurate interpretation of court proceedings unavailable to Petitioner, thus denying her a day in court. RCW 2.43.030. (1)(c) states: "Except as otherwise provided in this section, when a non-Englishspeaking person is involved in a legal proceeding, the appointing authority shall appoint a qualified interpreter." Fed.R.Civ.P.604. states: "An interpreter must be qualified and must give an oath of affirmation to make a true translation."

On Dec. 22, 2015, Zaitsev appeared before the trial court for a hearing of MOTION TO DISSMISS [CP @18-24]. It appeared that the court wanted to speed thing up and make a fast ruling on the case. The court did not provide Zaitsev with a qualified interpreter, instead, the court allowed Zaitsev's daughter do the interpreting.¹⁷. If Zaitsev had a qualified interpretation

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