FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/22/2017 10:16 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 95030-0 COURT OF APPEALS NO.: 74626-0-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TAMARA ZAITSEV, Appellant.

v.

SHAWN KELLER, DDS, Respondent.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

John C. Versnel, III, WSBA No. 17755 Daniel C. Mooney, WSBA No. 44521 Of Attorneys for Respondent LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 1800 One Convention Place 701 Pike Street, Suite 1800 Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990

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

V. ARGUMENT

Ms. Zaitsev's Petition does not provide a proper basis for review. She fails to set forth any meaningful argument as to why this decision falls

¹ Ms. Elena Zaitseva is the Appellant's daughter, who provided unofficial interpretation services at the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss. Verbatim Report of Proceedings, p. 4:13-25.

within the criteria of RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4), and this Court should decline to accept review.

A. Ms. Zaitsev's Petition for Review does not meet the criteria governing acceptance of review by the Court.

This Court's review of a Court of Appeals decision is an extraordinary step. Nothing in RAP 13.4, or in Washington law, entitles Ms. Zaitsev to review simply because she disagrees with the Court of Appeals' decision, or believes she has been the victim of an injustice

[P]erceived injustice should not be the focus of attention in the petition for review. Although the welldrafted petition should awaken in the court uncertainty whether justice has been done, RAP 13.4(b) does not allow review simply to correct isolated instances of injustice. The Supreme Court, in passing upon a petition for review, is not operating as a court of error, but rather is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. Its concern is with the general state of the law, not particular applications of it, whether involving the state constitution, statutory or regulatory law, or common law. The court grants review when it is convinced that a significant point of law must be decided or clarified.

Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or issues presented decided generally. The significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question. ... Failure to show the court the "big picture" will further diminish the already statistically slim prospects of review.

Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook §18.2(5) (4th ed. 2016).

The panel of the Court of Appeals unanimously upheld the granting of Dr. Keller's motion to dismiss.

While Ms. Zaitsev argues the decisions of the Court of Appeals violate her due process rights and impact the public interest, she does not meaningfully address the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b), and makes only passing reference to RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4) in the final sentence of her petition. Petition for Review, p. 25. Because Ms. Zaitsev does not clearly cite a basis for this Court to accept review, this Answer will address all the bases for review under RAP 13.4(b), and request this Court to deny review.

B. Ms. Zaitsev does not satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(1) – (4).

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the only grounds under which a Court of

Appeals decision will be reviewed:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Ms. Zaitsev's Petition fails to meet any of these requirements.

1. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with a decision of either the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals.

Ms. Zaitsev does not present any argument or authority the Court of Appeals Decision conflicts with the decision of any other court of appeal or the Supreme Court; instead, she reargues the validity of the trial court's and the Court of Appeals' rulings, without addressing any conflict in law raised by any of the decisions. Accordingly, this Court should decline to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). RAP 10.3(a)(6); *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). *See also DeHeer v. Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962) ("Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none.")

2. This matter presents no issue of law under constitutions of the State of Washington or the United States.

Ms. Zaitsev contends nearly every decision of the Court of Appeals raises an issue of law under the constitutions of the State of Washington and the United States because they violate her right to due process. Specifically, she claims her due process rights were violated in the following ways: (1) by being held to the same standards as an attorney; (2) by not being provided with an attorney to assist her; (3) by the way the court calculated the statute of limitations; (4) by not being provided with an interpreter; (5) by not allowing her to raise the issue of waiver for the first time on appeal; (6) by not finding her failure to properly serve Dr. Keller was the result of excusable neglect; (7) by not allowing her the opportunity to cure her defective service of process; and (8) by not requiring defense counsel to alert her to her defective service of process. Petition, pp. 4-6.

As an initial matter, Ms. Zaitsev does not cite any authority for her contention the various decisions of the Court of Appeals violate her due process rights, other than her own subjective belief. Accordingly, this Court should decline to consider them in that context. RAP 10.3(a)(6); *DeHeer*, 60 Wn.2d at 126. Furthermore, none of her arguments have merit.

It does not violate a pro se party's due process rights to be held to the same standards as an attorney; rather, such a standard is the long-standing rule in Washington. *In re Marriage of Olson*, 69 Wn. App. 621, 626, 850 P.2d 527 (1993) ("The law does not distinguish between one who elects to conduct his or her own legal affairs and

one who seeks the assistance of counsel – both are subject to the same procedural and substantive laws.");

- There is no right to assigned counsel in a civil health care malpractice claim. See Miranda v. Sims, 98 Wn. App. 898, 902, 991
 P.2d 681 (2000) ("The civil litigants right to access, however, has never been construed by our courts to provide a right to counsel at public expense in every proceeding. Rather, our courts have limited the right to appointed counsel in civil cases to proceedings where the litigant's physical liberty is threatened or where a fundamental liberty interest, similar to the parent-child relationship, is at risk.")
- Statutes of limitation do not violate due process, and their enactment is a valid exercise of legislative authority. *Ruth v. Dight*, 75 Wn.2d 660, 666, 453 P.2d 631 (1969) (Legislature has constitutional power to strike balance between harm of being deprived remedy versus harm of being sued and by establishing a clear line of demarcation to fix time certain beyond which no remedy will be available.) Furthermore, Ms. Zaitsev's continuing care doctrine argument was raised for the first time on appeal, and should not be considered by this Court. RAP 2.5(a); *State v. Strine*, 176 Wn.2d 742, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013).

- A litigant's right to have an interpreter present is not violated if that individual waives the right to have one present, which the record demonstrates was done in this case. Verbatim Report, p. 5:5-22.
 RCW 2.43.060; *State v. Woo Won Choi*, 55 Wn. App. 895, 900-03, 781 P.2d 895 (1989).
- Declining to consider Ms. Zaitsev's waiver argument, raised for the first time on appeal, is a proper exercise of the court's discretion, not a deprivation of Ms. Zaitsev's due process rights. RAP 2.5(a); *State v. Strine*, 176 Wn.2d 742, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013) (generally, the Supreme Court will not review any claim of error that was not raised in the trial court; this rule affords the trial court an opportunity to rule correctly upon a matter before it can be presented on appeal).
- Excusable neglect, which requires showing elements of honesty in belief or purpose and reasonable diligence, and requires reasonable efforts to determine proper service of process, does not excuse Ms. Zaitsev's failure to properly serve Dr. Keller, because the Court of Appeals found her reason for not personally serving Dr. Keller was unreasonable under the circumstances. *James v. McMurry*, 195 Wn. App. 144, 156, 380 P.3d 591 (2016).
- Ms. Zaitsev's right to due process was not violated by the court not giving her an opportunity to cure her defective service of process

because, by the time she learned of her mistake and sought to reserve, the statute of limitations has run. *O'Neill v. Farmers Inc. Co. of Wash.*, 124 Wn. App. 516, 528-29, 125 P.3d 134 (2004).

Not requiring defense counsel to alert Ms. Zaitsev of her defective service of process did not violate her due process rights, because a defendant is under no obligation to alert a plaintiff prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations that a motion to dismiss will be forthcoming. *Gerean v. Martin-Joven*, 108 Wn. App. 963, 973-74, 33 P.3d 427 (Div. 3 2001).

Given that Ms. Zaitsev's arguments do not actually implicate her right to due process, and she offers no legal argument or authority to the contrary, this Court should decline to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

3. This case does not present a genuine issue of substantial public interest.

Ms. Zaitsev argues an issue of substantial public interest warrants review. However, she does not meaningfully explain why any issue raised in her petition has ramifications for anyone beyond the parties to this case.

For a substantial public interest to exist, Ms. Zaitsev must show "the particular issue has ramifications beyond the particular parties and the particular facts of an individual case." *Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook* §18.2(3) (4th ed. 2016). Detailed analysis of the "substantial public interest" criterion of RAP 13.4(b)(4) is scant, but this Court weighed what amounts to "public interest" when considering the related question of whether to decide a moot issue:

When determining the requisite degree of public interest, court should consider (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question.

In re Mines, 146 Wn.2d 279, 285, 45 P.3d 535 (2002) (internal quotation marks omitted). *Dept. of Ecology v. Adsit*, 103 Wn.2d 698, 705, 694 P.2d 1065 (1985); *Sorenson v. City of Bellingham*, 80 Wn.2d 547, 558, 496 P.2d 512 (1972). Where the Court has directly addressed the "substantial public interest" criterion of RAP 13.4(b)(4), it has used these principles. *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005).

In *Watson*, the issue was whether a prosecutor's office delivered a memo to all members of the bench regarding its decision not to recommend drug offender sentencing alternative (DOSA) sentences was an improper ex parte communication. This Court held that the Court of Appeals' decision was reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the ruling (1) could affect every sentencing proceeding involving a DOSA sentence; (2) created confusion and invited unnecessary litigation; and (3) could chill policy actions by both attorneys and judges in the future. *Id*.

In contrast, this case involves only the parties to this action and affects no one but them. This is a private dental malpractice case based on unique facts applicable to this case only, which are highly unlikely to recur, and the legal issues involved in this case are well-settled. Therefore, RAP 13.4(b)(4) does not provide a basis for review of the decision.

Furthermore, the decision in this case is unpublished, and has no precedential value, and thus cannot possibly disrupt the current state of Washington common law. RCW 2.06.040. *State v. Fitzpatrick*, 5 Wn. App. 661, 668, 491 P.2d 262 (1971) (Washington law has long held that unpublished opinions do not have precedential value.) Unpublished opinions in the Court of Appeals will not be considered in the Court of Appeals and should not be considered in the trial courts. *Id.* They do not become part of the common law of the State of Washington. *Id.* Since this case establishes no precedent, a further reason to decline review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) exists.

C. The Court of Appeals' decision was correct on the merits.

In addition to not satisfying any of the requirements of RAP 13.4(b), this Court should decline review because the Court of Appeals' decision was correct on the merits.

1. The Court of Appeals correctly determined Ms. Zaitsev did not properly effect service of process.

The Court of Appeals correctly held Ms. Zaitsev did not properly serve Dr. Keller.

Service of process must satisfy the constitutional and statutory requirements to be effective. *Farmer v. Davis*, 161 Wn. App. 420, 432, 250 P.3d 138 (2011); *Powell v. Sphere Drake, Ins. P.L.C.*, 97 Wn. App. 890, 999, 988 P.2d 12 (1999). RCW 4.28.080(16) requires a plaintiff to serve the defendant with a copy of the summons and the complaint "personally or by leaving a copy of the summons at the house of his or her usual abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then resident therein." Service of process must be done either personally or through the substituted service of process provided for by the statute. *Lepeska v. Farley*, 67 Wn. App. 548, 551, 833 P.2d 437 (1992).

Ms. Zaitsev concedes she served Dr. Keller's counsel, not Dr. Keller. Such service is insufficient, as the Court of Appeals determined, in the absence of evidence of express authority.

2. The Court of Appeals correctly found service on Dr. Keller's attorney was insufficient.

The Court of Appeals correctly found Dr. Keller's counsel did not have the requisite authority to accept service of process. An attorney may not surrender a substantial right of his client without special authority granted by the client. *Graves v. P.J. Taggares Co.*, 94 Wn.2d 298, 303, 616 P.2d 1223 (1980). For this reason, an attorney needs his client's express authority to accept service of process. *Russell v. Maas*, 166 Wn. App. 885, 890, 272 P.3d 273 (2012), *rev. denied* 174 Wn.2d 1016 (2012). Requiring express authority is necessary to protect clients from possibly serious consequences arising from a misunderstanding between the client and the attorney. *Graves v. P.J. Taggeres Co.*, 94 Wn.2d. 298, 304, 616 P.2d 1223 (1980).

Here, there was no evidence Dr. Keller expressly authorized his attorney to accept service of process. The January 2015 letter Ms. Zaitsev claims instructed her to serve Dr. Keller's counsel instead of Dr. Keller, was not addressed to Ms. Zaitsev, predated the filing of the complaint by nearly four months, and did not mention service of process, let alone indicate Dr. Keller's authority. Rather, it was a response to Ms. Zaitsev's daughter contacting Dr. Keller directly to obtain records at her former attorney's request, in violation of RPC 4.2. If Ms. Zaitsev was unsure or had any doubt as to who she should serve, it was incumbent on her to ascertain the correct individual. *Streeter-Dybdahl v. Nguyet Huynh*, 157 Wn. App. 408, 415, 236 P.3d 986 (2010) (Responsibility for overcoming challenges regarding service due to misunderstandings rests on the

plaintiff, not the defendant). Absent evidence of Dr. Keller's express authority, service on his attorney was insufficient.

3. The Court of Appeals correctly found equitable estoppel did not apply.

The Court of Appeals ruled equitable estoppel did prevent Dr. Keller from relying on the procedural defense of lack of service of process. Equitable estoppel requires (1) an admission, statement, or act inconsistent with a claim afterwards asserted; (2) action by another in reasonable reliance upon that act, statement, or admission; and (3) injury to the relying party from allowing the first party to contradict or repudiate the prior act, statement, or admission. *Lybbert v. Grant County*, 141 Wn.2d 29, 35, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). The party asserting equitable estoppel must show each element by clear and convincing evidence. *Id.*

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